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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ‘
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : Criminal Nﬁmher: O7-76 / Y44 f-f(./ .
VIOLATION |
Y.
. : Count One
CURTIS G. WHITEFORD, : 18 US.C. §371 »
DEBRA M. HARRISON, - (Conspiracy)
MICHAEL B. WHEELER, :
SEYMOUR MORRIS, JR., : Count Two -
WILLIAM DRIVER, v+ 1BUSC.8§201 and2
: (Bribery)
Defendants. :
' : Count Three
: 18 U.S.C. §§ 201 and 2
ol (Bribery)
: - Count Four
: 18 U.S.C. §§ 201 and 2
T (Bribery)
= : ‘ : Counts Five through Fifteen
RECEIVED : 18U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346 and 2
FEB ! 2007 : (Homest Services Wire Fraud)

AT 8130 :  Count Sixteen
WILTTAM T wars— ™ ; 18 U.S.C. §§ 2314 and 2
- CLERK : (Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)

: Count Seventeen
; 18 U.S.C. § 2314

3 (Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)
: Count Eighteen

: 18 U.S,C. § 2314
: (Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)

: Count Nineteen
: 18 U.S.C. § 2314

" : (Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)
: Count Twenty

31U.8.C.§5332 and 18 U.S.C. § 2
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: (Bulk Cash Smuggling)

. Counts Twenty-One through
. Twenty-Four
: 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(B)(ii) and 2
: (Money Laundering)

: Count Twenty-Five .
i 20US.C.§7206(2) ' -,
o {Aiding and Assisting in the Preparatinn
: and Presentation of a False and
Fraudulent Return)

Criminal Forfeiture

18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(c) & 982
26 U.S.C. § 5872

28 U.S.C, § 2461(c)

31 US.C. § 5332

INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury, in and for the District of New Jersey, sitting at Trenton, charges that at

all fimes relevant to this Indictment: : | ' : )
COUNT ONE
Conspiracy
. 18U.S.C. §371

1. INTRODUCTION

A. ‘ Th alition visio utho

1. | In May 2003, thc United States and the Umtcd Kingdom created the Coalmon Prows:onal |
Authority (“CPA”) to temporarily exercise powers of government for the Republic of
~ Irag. The President of the United States appointed a United States Ambas?sﬂdbr to scﬁe
as‘tha United States‘Presidential Envoy to Iraq. Thereafter, the United States Secretﬁry of

Defense designated the U.S. Ambassador/Envoy to serve as the Administrator of the CPA
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and the civil governing authority of Iraq. The CPA was divided into five regions with
each region having aUnited States Régional Embassy Office (“US-RE(E)”) and a Unitéd
States Ambassador, who served as the regmnal advisor overseemg the reconsnuctmn
efforts and financial expendlture of CPA funds in the region. | ’l ‘ ,
2. In 2003, Congress appropriated $698 million in initial funding to the CPA for its daily |
‘_operating budget. Thereafier, the CPA conducted its qperatinns and éwa'rded contracts |
for projects intended to promote Iraq’s reconstruction from several ﬁmdmg sources,
including over $24.1 billion in funds appropr'iatad in 2003 and 2004 by Congress from
the General‘Fl.,mds of the United States as well as $2.1 billion in repatriated Iram funds -
that were confiscated by the United States during the Gulf War in 1990. The United
o States deposited $210 million of the repaltriated funds into a CPA account ﬁom as the
Dcve]npment Fund for Iraq (“DFT") which also held over $1 billion in Irac;i funds derived
from Dil. for Food sales. All of these CPA funds \‘n'rere‘, designated fur the promotion of
reconstruction projects in Iraq and administered by and under the authority of the
Administrator and the United S'tates Army..
3. The CPA was primarily staffed by Department of Dcfense (‘DOD”) employeas mcludmg
civilians and members of the m:htary forces detailed to the CPA as we]l as DoD
 contractors and subcantractors who were responsible for the management, accoﬁntmg,
and expenditure of CPA funds. |
4. The United States Army and the United States Army Reserve were cumponents of the |

DoD.
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"' B, The nefendamg
5.  Defendant CURTIS G. WHITEFDRD was a Colonel in tho United Statos Army Reserve,
who resided in Utah, From at least in or about Soptombor 2003 until at least in or about
July 2004, WHITEFORD served on active duty for the U 5. Army and was assigned to
the US-REQ in the CPA’s South Central (“CPA SC”) region in' Al- Hlllah Iraq
WHITEFORD's duties included, among others, serving s the Chief of Staff and Deputy
Regional Advisor for the CPA-SC, In thiscapacity, WHITEFORD served as tho second
most serﬁor official at the CPA-SC and was rosponsib]o for supervising CPA{C
personnel, who owardod oontroots related to the reconstruction of iraq and made
payments for the CPA-SC in a]-Hilloh Iroq and oloowhoro WHITEFORD had
supomsory respons1b1hty for and oversaw the contracting processes for all CPA sC
projects, including project development, selection, funding, and tracking spendmg of.
CPA-SC funds for CPA-SC expenditures. W]—HTEFORD had direct responsibility for
running tﬁo CPA-SC offices ond, fromn time to time, served as the Rogional Ambassador’s
liaison between contractors and the Cf’A and between the CPA and Iragi nationols
6. Defendant DEBRA M. HARRISON was a Lloutonant Colonel in the Umtod Statos Amy
Reserve, who resided in Trenton, Now Jersey. From at least in or about February 2003
untl] at loast in or about July 2004, HARR_ISON sorvod on active duty for tho U. S Amy
' |
and was assigned to a U.S. Amy Civil Affairs until approximately April 2004, when sho
| was reassigned to the US-REQ in the CPA-SC region in al-Hillah, Iraq, where she |
remained until at least in or about July i004. At the CPA-SC, HARRISON s-ol'yod as the

- Deputy Comptroller and, for a period, as the acting Comptroller for the CPA-5C, in
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L whjch capacity she oversaw the expenditure of CPA funds for Iraq reconstruction projects
| by the CPA-SC. | |
T Defendant MCML B. WHEEL]'ERIwas a Lieutenant C‘oloncl in the United States
Army Rese.rve who resided in Wisconsin.. From at least in or about October 2003 until at
least in or about July 2004, WHEELER servcd on active duty for the U. S Anmy and was |
assigned to the US-REQ in the CPA-SC region in a]~Hi11ah, Iraq. WHEELER served as
the Deputy Civil Administrator and Deputy Chief of Staff for the.CPA-SC; In thege
capacities, WHEELER served as an adfisor and projé_ct officer on CPA prpjg:c;s fo'r'the
recunstmctioﬁ éf‘ Iraq.' His duties, ambng‘ uthers,,inclﬁded recommending the dxpen&iture _
of CPA funds for CPA—sponsbred projects, ensuring that awarded contracts had bﬁ
satlsfactonly performed, and fac1]1tat1ng payments to contractors for services performed
on the awarded cnntracts |
-8 Defendants HARRISON and WHEELER worked under the supervision ahd direction of
defendam WIHTEFORD | |
9, | Defendant SEYMDUR MORRIS, JR. was a United States citizen, who ownod and
operated a Cyprus-based financial services business and resided in Romama.
C. The Co-Conspira
10.  Robert Stein (“S'tcin”) was aDoD ;:ontl'act .e:mplnyefl: who served m va.fiou# positions at
| the CPA-SC from m or about November 2003 until in or about June 2004, including |
Comptroller and Funding Officer, under the supervisi'on and direction of de'f‘end.ant
WHITEFORD. Stelin controlled the;xperxdinirc of at lf.aslt $82 million in funds that were

to be used for the payment of contract services rendered in al-Hillah, Iraq, for the
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rebuilding of ]raq by the CPA-SC. Stem disbursed cash to CPA project officers and
contractors that recewed contracts from the CPA. l
11, PhJ]rp Bloom (“B]oom "y was a Umted States citizen, Frcrrn in or about November 2003

through in or about 2005, Bloom operated and controlled construction and service ,
compariies, mcludmg Global Business (Group, in Irag, Romania, and elsewhere that did
business Wlﬂ'l the CPA, DoD and other U.S, agencies in Iraq and elscwhere

12. Bruce D. Hopfengardner (“Hopfengardner™) was a Licutenant Colonel in the United
States Army Reserve. From in or about August 2003 until in or about June 2004
Hopfen gardner scrved on active duty for the U.S. Army and was ass:gned to the US-REO
in the CPA-SC region in al-Hillah, Iraq. Hopfengardner served as a pro_]ect ofﬁcer under-

.+ the supervision and direction of ﬂefendant WHITEFORD, and his duties mcludad among

uthers reconunendmg the expenditure of CPA funds by CPAuSC ofﬁclals for CPA
contracts related to the rccnnstructmn of Iraq, as well as oversceing and m:maging CPA-
SC sccunty and the procurement of equlpment and weapons for the luca] Iraql pullce |
force.
D. ;“P Contracti d lt.R es

13.- In order to enter into contracts and aWard grants for the rebmldmg of Iraq the CPA used |

' both DoD and C‘PA-spemﬁc cnntractmg forms and procedures The CPA promulgatﬂd its -

procedures in several CPA Contracting Memoranda which mirrored the competition,

transparcncy, and accountability standards applicable to federally-funded DoD mﬂtraéts.

The CPA required that all conlrab‘ts valued over $500,000 be reviewed by the CPA
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o Program Review Board in Baghdad, Iraq. Contracts under SSO0,000 could be approved
by the regional CPA offices, such as the CPA-SC. | | |
‘14, DoD and CPA reﬁulations prohibited ’military personnel ﬁ'bm accepting gifts or otﬁ:r
things of value from contractors doing business with boD or the CPA I. .
| H.‘ THE SPI - |
15.  From in or about Decéniber 2003 through m or about December 2005, in the District of
New J mSef, the Republic of Irag, and elsewhere, the Defeﬁdaﬁts, |
CURTIS G. WHITEFORD,
DEBRA M. HARRISON,
MICHAEL B. WHEELER, and
SEYMOUR MORRIS, JR.,
did lmowmgly conspire, cnnfederate and agree w1th Bloom Hopfengardner Stein, and
other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses agamst the
United States, that is, to; | | . X |
a. directly and indirecﬂy, corruptly demand, seek, receive, accept, and ag_ree'to :
receive and accept things of vélué that is, among other things, busiﬁcss class'
* plane tickets, real estate, liquor, a sports car, sport ut111ty valncles, amotorcycle a
'~ recreational vehicle, weapons, tactical gear, Jewelry, money, and empluyment
from Bloom, in return for being influenced in the performance of ofﬂcial'_aots in
violation'of 18 U.S.C. § 201; |
b. devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and to deprive the

United Staqu and the CPA of money, property, and their intangible right to the

~ honest services of DoD officials assigned to and working for and with the CPA
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through the use of the mail and interstate wires, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341,
1343, and 1346; |

¢ transport, transmit, and transfef' in interstate and .f;c:nrcign commerce goods, wares,
merchandise, securities and money, of thé value of $5,000 or more knowing the,, ‘
same to have been stolen, converted and taken by fraud, in ﬁb]ﬁtit:;n of 18 U.S.C. ,

§ .2314; ;atnd |
d. knowingly receive and possess firearmns not registered to thr:m in the National
Fi,reanniseg.istrat.ion and Transfer Record, m violation olf 26 U.S.C. § 5861(d).
I PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

16.  The purpose of the conspiracy was for WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WI-IEELER,'
MORRIS, B]oolm, Hopfengardner, Stein,‘ and their co-conspirators.tn enrich ;md reward
themsei#es, each other, and entities under Bloomn’s control, by comnﬁtting criminal
offenses against the Unitcd States, and to conceal the conspiracy and its ﬁbje;:ts and the
acts undv;rltakcn‘ in furtherance of it.

IV. MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

17.  To further the objects and goals of the conspiracy, W'HITEFDRD, HARRISON,

WHEELER, MORRIS, Bloom, Hopfengardner, Stein, and their co-conspirators would,
| among other th'irllgs, do the following: | .
& Reéonnnend at least twenty-seven CPA consttucﬁun projects in.Iraq that wcra‘
 steered to Biuom and his companies throﬁgh arigged bidding pmcesé; |

b. Use oiﬁcial'positions to cause, or authorize, payment of over $8,000,00D by the

- CPA to Bloom and his companies,

B
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' ¢ Structure the contracts awarded to Bloom and his companies in amounts under
$500 000, which was the dollar limit of ali CPA-SC cuntractmg officers’
contractmg authonty, and avmd scrutiny by the CPA’s contract rewew buard and
its auditors in Baghdad, Iraq, and others, _ - . - | y

d. Rig the bids on the conﬁ-acts to allow Bloom to spbmif both Iegifiﬁate and fake
bids on CPA-SC contracts in order td conceal the éontrai:t transactions with
Bloom and his r;ompanics.. |

& Solicit and accept money and otlier things of i{alue, including, among othe'r'ﬂﬁngé,
busincss class plane tickets, real estate, liquor, a sports car, sport utility vehicles, a
motorcycle, a racreauonal vehicle, weapons, tactical gear, jewelry, money, and
employment frorn Blc)om in remm for taking or refraining from talcmg official
action that was favorable to Bloom and his companies.

f Stea), convert, or obtain By fraud over Sl,‘?Oﬂ,OUO from the CPA that was

| designated for use in the reconstruction of Iraq and smuggle at least $500,600 of
the stolen funds into the United St‘ates for persdnal benefit. |

g Provide Bloom wifh stolen CPA-SC funds to be used for the purchase of things. of |
value for WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER, Stein, Hopfeﬁgardncr and
other CPA-SC officials. | | | o

h. Cause over $1 million in wire transfers, mcludmg stolen CPA funds, to be sent to

or for the benefit of the co-conspirators, including HARRISON MORRIS, Stein,

anfengardner, and others or their spouses or persons acting on their hehalf,
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o drawn on Bloom’s accounts or accounts under his control in Iraq, Romania,

Switzerland, the United States, and elsewhere.

i. Obtain weapons purchased with stolen CPA funds and convert them to their
personal use, ‘ ‘ : ‘_ ' '
J- Conceal the bid-rigging scheme by creating ﬁ'audulenf receipts and other contract |

documnents that were pmﬁdad to CPA auditors.
V. OVERT ACTS
In furtherance of the consplracy and to achieve its purposes, WHITEFORD H.ARRISON
‘ WHEELER MORRIS B]oom Hopfengardner Stem and others committed the followmg overt
acts, among others, in the District of New Jersey, the Republic of Iraq, and elscwhm:

18. Dn or about December 31, 2d03, Bloom lle-mailed Stein, telling Stein that Bléom had
already sent funds f'or the purchase of watches for Stein and others and would chack on
the status of the payment : | ' PR

19, | On or about January 1, 2004, Bloom e-mailed Stein, difecting him to “line up
[WHEELER] and get [Hopfengardner] on n board.”

| 20, Onor about January 2, 2004, Stein e-mailed B]oom tr.llmg hun “[b]emeen Mike
[WHEELER] myself and the Corps of Engmeers we should be able to develop the scopes -
of‘ work to makc sure thmgs line up 10 you! I gave the Corps guys e:ach a plstol tomght to
-make sure they were on board and to thank them for their hc]p * |

21. | On or about January 3, 2004, Stem e-mailed Bloom, telling him, “FYT, [WHEELER] and
I got the contract th'rough'of rhte (sic) ground prcp at the ﬁolice aéadémy_ I will give you

200K sometime tomorrow afternoon! Ilove to give you money.”

10
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22! Onor about January 7, 2004, Bloom e-mailed WHEELER, informing him that Bloom
would provide WHEELER with bottles of llquur and askmg WHEELER for favorable '

official actmn in getting Bloom cuntracts and payments from the CPA..

23, On or about January 7, 2004, WHEELER accepted bottlaa of liquor from Bloora inal- ,
Hillah, Irag. | 7 -
 24.  Onor about January 13, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, prowdmg Bloom with Stein’s bank
account information and the bank’s address i in North Camhna
25.  Onor about January 14, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, telling him, “T smke W1th
| 'WHEELER and he Sﬂld he still needed [the] rest uf the mfonnatmn on the next part of the
pohcc academy so ha can finish it up. I'would like to get that one awarded to you ASAP
then We can start [on] the next part.”

26. Onor about January 14, 2004, Bloom e-mailed WHEELER, infaﬁning him fhat hehad |
additional liquor for WHEELER and that ha would delivertha ]iquorl to WHEELER
himse]f and aaHDg WHEELER for favorable official action in getting Bloom mntraats
and payments from the CPA, ‘

27, Onor abont January 14, 2004 WHEELER acccpted bottles of llquor ﬂom B]oom inal- |

Hillah, Iraq. _ |
28, 'On or about January 15 2004, Bloom w:re transferrad $30,000 ﬁ'om }us ac:counts in ]raq
‘to Stein’s bank account in North Carolina,
29, On or about January 22, 2004, WHEELER, at Bloom’s request, allowed Bloom to

mislead CPA-SC officials about a CPA project he was per"fonning‘by using photographs

11
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from another CPA project to describe work accomplished by Bloom's companies in order
for Bloom to secure additional CPA work. |
30.  On or about January 26, 2004, Bloom l;e-maiied WHEELER a bid proposal for a CPA-SC
| contract. : | — ‘ | o o ;
31.  Onor about January 26, 2004, WHEELER e-mailed Bloom, informinngl.onm that his in‘d ,
ona CPA-SC contract had to be in the name bf one of Bloom’s other companies il; order
f;)r WHEELER to award the contract to Bloom, | |
32.  Onor about January 26, 2004, Steﬁ: siﬁned a DoD ét;mdard Form 1449 contt‘aqt_'vvith a |
U.S. arms manufachuer based in Sterling, Virginia that provided that the CPA-5C would
purchase weapons that were to be déliw:red to Fort Bragg, North Carolina, inciﬁ'ding, o
among others: four grenade lauhcheré; t;vemty ﬁl]y automatic machine guns, twelve
assault rifles; twelve handglms; and silencers. |
33. Onor about the following dates in 2004, as set out below, WHEELER submitted
numerous lCPA funding requests for cunstmﬂion work to be performed in al-Hillah, Iraq
by Bloom and his companies pursuanf to CPA-SC contracts, and ﬁefeaﬁer, WHEELER
signed numerous Cenjﬁcates of Cc:mp]etion cmiﬁdng thatl the work on thesé CPA-SC
contracts was “satisfactorily completed” and thﬁt Bloom or his cnmpanies_ Sho;ﬂd be pﬁid
| éven thnﬁgh Blolnm had not fully performed ﬂm contracté. The total value of the | |
following funding requests submitted by WHEELER for CPA-SC conﬁacts payable t':.\

- Bloom was approximately $1,'700,000.

12
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~ Date | Contract | Contracted Servives . | Offietal Action -
No. ‘ | Submission of Document .
January2,2004 | 8003 | Radio Studio Construction | Request Form |
January 3, 2004 8016 | Police Academy Building = | Request Form
Demolition ' )
January 5, 2004 8023 Regional Tribal Center Request Form
January 15, 2004 8063 Generator | Reguest Form
January 17, 2004 8064 Po]icéAcademy Classroom | Request Form
Construction ‘ '
January 22, 2004 8070 | Police Academy Office. Request Form
' . Building-Water System '
January22,2004 | 8069 | Police Academy Security Request Form
. Wall o '
January 26,2004 | 8136 | Babylon Foot Bridge | Request Form
. January 31,2004 | 8089 | Mobile Command Post Certification of Completion
January 31,2004 | 8091 | Mobile Command Post . - | Certification of Completion
February1,2004 | 8092 | Police Academy Conference Request Form,
- Living Quarters
February 1, 2004 B093 Police Academy Living Request Form -
. a : Quarters
February 19,2004 | 8167 | Demolition Ba’ath Party Certification of Completion
: Headquarters o :
February 19, 2004 8165 Karbala Generator Certification of Completion
February 19,2004 | 8165 | Karbala Generator Request Form |
February 20,2004 | 8169 | Karbala Women’s Center | Request Form '
February 23,2004 | 8169 | Building Improvements Certification of Completion
February 24,2004 | 8174 | Tribal Democracy Center | Request Form |
o B Office Fumiture _
February 26, 2004 8174 | Tribal Democracy Center Certification of Completion
‘ Office Furniture g

13
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'March 3, 2004 8023 | Tribal Democracy Center | Certification of Completion
March 28,2004 | 8345 | Karbala Library Internet RequestForm -
March 28, 2004 8539 Karbala Lii:irary Repairs | Request Form
March 29, 2004 8342 | Karbala Library Landscaping Request Form
March 29,2004 | 8343 |Karbala Library Fumitare | Request Form
‘March 30, 2004 8092 | Generator - Sleeping Certification of Completion
: Quarters ' ‘
March 30, 2004 8090 Tribal Democracy Center Certification of Qomp]etion
o ' Generator
April 30,2004 - | 8023-2 | Regional Tribal Center 2 . Request Form
June 16,2004 | None |Pool | | Request Form
June 16, 2004 8265 S'_ecuﬁty Facility Upgrades Certification of Complétion
- June 16, 2004 8169 | Karbala Women's Center | Request Form
" June 18, 2004 8169 | Karbala Women’s Center | Centification of Completion
~ June 18, 2004 - 8136 | Mobile Foot Bridge Certification of Completion
34.  Omorabout February 4, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, providing him W1th the bankmg

. 35,

36,

mfonnatmn for an arms manufacturer in Mlinois and mfunmng Bloum that Stcm would

be providing Bloom with additional banking information for other arms manufacturers in

the United States.

On or about February 18, 2004, B]bom e-mailed Stein, conﬁrming that Bloom,had named

Stein Vice Prcéitalent of Operations for one of Bloom’s companies.

On or about February 19, 2004, Stein ¢-mailed Bloom, telling Bloom that Stein had

received several high-end Bfeitling watches that Bioom had purchased and had sent to

Stein.

t

14
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'3'71 On or about February 19, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, confirming thﬂt, as he and Bloom
had agfeed, Stein had given a $3,200 Breitling watch to Hopfmgardner;

“38. Onorabout Febrﬁaxy 1 9, 2004, S.teinlle—mailed Bloom, stating that Stein was going to
give a Breitling watch to WHITEFORD, and asking if Bloom agreed that they should .
give WHITEFORD a Breitling watch. | o |

39, Onor about February 19, 2004, Bloom e-mailed a response to Stein, confirming that
Blmm agreed that Stein shonld give a Breitling watch to WHIIEFORD |
40.  In or about February 2004, WHITEFORD accepted a §3,200 Breitiing watch from Stein
that was paid for by Bloom. | |
4] . Inor about February 2004, WHITEFORD accepted $10,000 in stolen CPA-SC funds
'+ from Stein. o | |
42.  On or about February 29, 2004, WHITEFORD appointed Stein to be rcspdnsible for

| monitoring, assistance, pmjects and program mamigemem in police issues for the CPA-

~ SC, including equipment distribution and accountability,

43, In or about February 2004 WHITEF DRD used stolen CPA funds to purchase a round-tnp
busmess class ticket for hxs retumn to h;s home in Utah |

44,  In or about February 2004, WHITEFORD trave]ed to the United States and carried w:th

~ him several thousand U 8. dollars given to th by Stem from stolen CPA—SC funds
which he then provided to his spouse.
45.  In or about March 2004, Hopfengardner accepted a $3,000 Toshjba laptop computer for

his personal use from Stem paid for by Bloom with stolen CPA-SC funds.

15
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'46.  In or about March 2004, WHITEFORD accepted a $3,000 Toshiba laptop computer for.
his personal use from Stein paid for by Bloom with stolen CPA;.SC fﬂl:IdB. |
© 47.  On or about March 3, 2004, Stein é—ma;ti]ed Bloom, confirming that WHITEFORD had
'~ the CPA-SC project list and that WHITEFORD had recently been in Stein’s-office talking
to Stein about assisting Bloom with Bloom’s development of an airline cﬁmpany m Iraq. ,
48. Oneor abéut March 3, 2004, Bloom e-mailed a response tﬁ Stein, explaining that
WHITEFORD had the CPA-SC project list and that WHITEFORD should i:: exqited that
Bloom and Stein were setting WI-IfTEFDRD up in a new business. o
49.  On orabout Mafch 6, 2004, Bluqm e-mailed WIHIEFORD, Offeﬁng him a job as |
president of a new airline company fhat Bloom was creating in Iraqg, . | |
%0.  On or about March 6, 2004, W]-]]TEFORD e-mailed a response to 'Bloom, m‘zplaining that
WHITEFORD could not écccpt the job while on active duty but agreed tﬁ assist Bloom
with the airline comj:any by agreﬁng to “go to Baghdad and search out the appropriate
ofﬁces/miﬁisnics and processes for obtaining permits/licenses for operations, landing
rights, FBOs, etc.” |
51.  On or about March 6, 2004, WHITEFORD again e-mailed Bloom, assuring Bloom that
- W}HfEFORD was still interested in the airline‘company job and that WHITEFDRD was
éomg to éssist 'Eiloom in obtaining licenscsla.nd permits and help Bloom ge;m the company
f‘off‘ the ground.” | | |
52.  On or about March 25, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mailed Hopfengardner, Stein, and another
| DoD official, advising them that the name of a private seﬁurity company to bc‘run by

WHITEFORD, Bloom, Stein, Hopfengardner, and others was “Anaconda” and that the

i
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- 53.

54.

33.

56.

a7,

58.

59.

“[k]ey objectives of the company are rpaking money while allowing us to look cool and :
have cool stuff. That ought to be easy to do.”
On or about Marcﬁ 27,2004, WHITEI;'ORD c-mai]ed‘ Stein, informing Stein that |
WHITEFORD wanted a business class ticket to travel from Iraq to his home in Salt Lake
City, Utah with a departure date of May 22, ZOM. | |
On or about March 29, 2004, Stein forwarded to Bloom WH]TEFORD’s e-mail -
rcquestiné a business-class ticket home and provided Bloom with a propusedﬁckqt and
flight schedule for Bloom to purchase fur WHITEFORD. |
.Dn or about Mafch 29,‘ _2004, Bloom wire transferred $140,000 from his bank a@mt mn
Romania to a real estate company’s éscrow bank account in North Carclina-fbf the benefit
of Stein. |
On or about March 30, 2004, Hopfengardner e-mailed WHITEFDRD, Stein, and another |
DoD official, advi siﬁg fhem about obtaining severﬁ.l‘e-mail addrcsscs for them tfouseto
help manage a private security company to be run by WHITEFORD, Bloom, Stein,
Hopfengardner, and ﬁthem. _ |
In or about Aprii 2004, Stein smuggled in excess of $1 17,00b in stolen CPA funds from
Iraq into the United States. h | |
In or sbout Aptil 2004, .Bll_oom, through one of his cémpanies, purcﬁgsed a ﬁusiness class
sitline ticket for WHITEFORD with stolen CPA funds. |

| Dn or about April 5, 2004, WHITEFORD, at Stein’s direction, signed a letter on CPA-SC

letterhead in his capacity as Chief of Staff which authorized the purchase with CPA-SC
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funds of numerous firearms and grenade launchers to be shipped to Ft. Bragg, North
Carolina. |
60.  Onor about April 5, 2004, in a weapons purchasé authorization letter, WHITEFORD
 certified that ile was “authorized to order, purchase, and receive” the weapons and that |
 the weapons were by and for the CPA when WHITEFORD kﬁcw that the Weapons were
to be converted iﬁ part for a private security company run by WHITEFQRD, Bloom,
Stein, Hopfengardner, and others. | |
61. | On or about Aprii 5, 2004, WHITEFORD, at Stein’é directidn, signed a letter auﬂloﬁzing
the purchases of numerous weapons including ﬁvo sniper rifles that were purchased in the
names of others in Minnesota and Wisconsin ;md uitimately convertdd to thg‘pérSanal use
of Stein and WliEELER in North Camliﬁ.a and Wisconsin.
62.  Onor about April 9, 2004, WHITEFORD, at Stein’s direction, sigﬁed a leﬁer in hls
official capacity authorizing the j)urchasc of firearms and rclgted equipment knowing that
these weaﬁons and equipmeni were actually being diveftad in part for a private security
company run by WHITEFORD, Bluoﬁl, Stein, Hopfengardner, and others.
63.  On or.about April 22, 2004, WHITEFORD met wifh HARkISDN in al-Hillah, Iraq to
ensure that she had prepared the CPA-SC’s books in advance of ﬁ CPA Inspectof Gem_ai‘al |
| ‘audit nf ail coxitrs:cts and disbursements of fuﬁds for the ‘C.PA'-SC scheduled for early Ma'y o
2004, | | | | |
64 On or about April 2ﬁ, 2004, MORRIS wire transferred $60,000 for Bloom from his bank
account in Cyj)rus tc; an automobile dealer’s bank account m Nortﬁ Carolina fdr the

hem:ﬁt of Stein.
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65

" 66.

67.

68.

69.

- 70.

7.

]
i 1

| On or about May 5, 20()4, Bloom wire 't:ransfermd $IQ,ODD from his bank account in Iraq
to Hopfengardner’s b’ank account in Califomia, | |
On or about May 7, 2004, Bloom e-rna:led MORRIS, informing him that he wante:d to

| purchase a 2004 GMC Yukon Denall for $40,000 and that he would pay MORRIS a

$5,000 commission.
On or about May 9, 2004, Stein e-mailed Ho.pfengardner, ‘stating, “With things wmdmg
down we need to make sure [Bloom] gets 10 - 12 sets of Bverything. Vests, hc]mqts S0 |
on and so forth. Remember, you have 400 sets of camcrs reroute (gic) and shonld be there
any day. We neled to talk about a few other things tou;"
On or about Ma& 12, 2004, WHITEFQRD e-mailed an.other DoD official telling him, “th'¢ -
facﬁ that all the mon@ was nofdisbursa& isa gobd thing at lt,his point. Betwéen .. Stein
we need 10 nail down the exact numbers for each grant. Having done that; we marry the
money with thé files and, voila, we move on tb the next crisis.” '

On or about May 19, 2004, at Stein’s direction, HARRISON took approximately .

$420,000 in U.S. funds from the CPA-SC office and hid thc money in her nfﬁcml

residence in al-Hlllah Iraq. |

On or about May 21, 2004, WHITEFDRD received a ruund-tnp business class ticket far

| travel from Kuwalt to Salt Lake City, Utah, obtained for him thmugh Stcm and pmd for

by Bloom with stolen CPA funds. |

On or about May 26, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mailed CPA-SC staff, including -

HARRISON, infun'ning them that members of the CPA hspeﬂm General audit‘team

would be ﬁsiting the CPA-SC the following day to review CPA-SC contract and grant
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72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

77.

funding records, telling the staff, “T got this at 8:09 PM tonight. Apparently they will be
here torﬁorrow for a short time. Nothing I can do to prepare you other‘than what we've
already done.” |
On or about May 30, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mailed Bloﬁm, providing Bloom information
about Bloom starting up an aiﬂiné and statiﬁg, “I hope this is 'hclpfu.l‘ and ieaﬂs o the
right answers. ... I 1can stop in the FAA office again for you let mé know.”
(jn or about May 31, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mailed Bloom, providing a detailed |
description of a 350 Z Nissan sports car that WHITEFORD wanted Bloom to pufchasc

| for him and telliﬁg Bloom, I appreciaté your he‘lp with this and ydur help while in Iraq.”
On or about May 31, 2004, Bloum e-mailed MORRIS, instructing him to locatl.; a Nissan'
350 Z sports car and have it delivered to WHITEFORD in Riveﬂoﬂ, Utah. |
On or about June 1,.2'0l.)4, HARRISON e-mailed Stein, WHITEFORD anﬂ.ﬁnothcr CPA-
5C official, relaying WHEELER ’s inability to find contract receipfs aﬁd stating that she
hoped to have left the CPA-8C by the thng ﬂlc'CPA’s Inspector General returned to the
CPA-SC to'conduct a fuil audit of the CPA-SC’s contracting, | |
On or sbout June 1, 2004, a CPA-SC offcial e-mailed WHITEFORD, ssling him what
he wanted her and HARRISON to do about ﬁ cuntractur’élrﬂqucst.fur payment and the
iack of re;:cipts‘ lt}'nat WHEELER had mcntioﬁcd in an iniﬁal e-mail to her m"ld |
HARRISON . |
On or about June 1, 2004, WHITEFORD ¢-mailed the CPA-5C official, WHEELER, ‘and
HARRISON, instruéting them to work with other CPAuSC officials to “see if they can

scare up some receipts” to satisfy the contractor and the CPA Inspector General’s audit
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